I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR  

Respondents AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation and Bellco Drug Corporation 

(collectively, “AmerisourceBergen” or “ABDC”) are alleged to be responsible for the opioid crisis 

in West Virginia.  AmerisourceBergen seeks insurance coverage for opioid-related lawsuits filed 

against it in West Virginia under a liability policy issued by Petitioner St. Paul Fire and Marine 

Insurance Company (“St. Paul”) for the period May 1, 2006-May 1, 2007 (the “St. Paul Policy”), 

and 15 policies issued by four other insurers for periods from 2006 to 2013 (together with St. Paul, 

the “Insurers” or “Defendants”).  All 16 policies were issued in Pennsylvania to a Pennsylvania 

company and are governed by Pennsylvania law.   

St. Paul appeals a June 10, 2022 Order by the Boone County Circuit Court imposing an 

anti-suit injunction prohibiting St. Paul “from instituting or prosecuting any collateral litigation or 

other proceeding against one another relating to insurance coverage for the prescription opioid 

liability lawsuits against ABC, ABDC, or any other affiliated entity,” with respect to any 

“insurance policies issued to ABDC or its predecessors and affiliates” dating “back to at least 

January 1, 1996” (the “Second Injunction”).  The Circuit Court previously entered a materially 

identical injunction on January 7, 2021 (the “First Injunction”), which this Court reversed in an 

opinion dated November 15, 2021.  This Court held that the injunction was “overbroad” and an 

“abuse of discretion” because, among other reasons, it “impairs the parties’ ability to litigate, 

against each other or with third parties, over policies separate from the sixteen policies” at issue in 

this case.  St. Paul appeals the Second Injunction on the following grounds: 

1. The Second Injunction contravenes this Court’s November 15, 2021 

opinion because it imposes an anti-suit injunction materially 

identical to, and equally broad as, the First Injunction that this Court 

reversed as overbroad and an abuse of discretion. 

2. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by reinstating an injunction 

that this Court already ruled improperly prejudiced the Insurers. 
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3. The Circuit Court’s entry of the Second Injunction violates 

principles of comity between states and their independent court 

systems. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. In 2012, The Attorney General Sues AmerisourceBergen, And 

AmerisourceBergen Concludes The Suit Is Not Covered By Its Insurance 

In June 2012, the West Virginia Attorney General sued AmerisourceBergen for public 

harm that allegedly arose out of the opioid crisis in West Virginia (the “WVAG Lawsuit”).1  The 

Attorney General claimed AmerisourceBergen had violated the law by selling opioid drugs “in 

excess of the amount . . . legitimately medically required.”2  He alleged that AmerisourceBergen 

was “[o]n notice that an epidemic of prescription drug abuse existed in West Virginia” and that 

the opioids sold into the state “were being abused.”3  The Attorney General asserted that, in spite 

of its knowledge, AmerisourceBergen “inserted” itself “as an integral part of the Pill Mill process” 

and “profit[ed] from this epidemic” because it “supplied controlled substances to drugstores and 

pharmacies that then dispense those controlled substances often based upon bogus prescriptions.”4   

Upon being served with the WVAG Lawsuit complaint in 2012, AmerisourceBergen’s in-

house insurance professionals in the risk management department determined that the lawsuit was 

not covered under AmerisourceBergen’s liability insurance policies because the lawsuit did not 

seek payment of damages for any bodily injury.  AmerisourceBergen’s Director of Risk 

Management explained in an email to her boss that it “does not appear there is coverage.”5 

Courts across the country have agreed.  Beginning in 2014, three years before 

 
1 See SPApp.00140 (ABDC Mar. 17, 2017 Compl. ¶ 15).  
2 SPApp.11337 (WVAG Lawsuit Jan. 13, 2015 SAC ¶ 8).   
3 SPApp.11341 (WVAG Lawsuit Jan. 13, 2015 SAC ¶ 14). 
4 SPApp.00343-44, SPApp.00346-47 (WVAG Lawsuit Jan. 13, 2015 SAC ¶¶ 3-4, 8).  
5 See SPApp.11235 (Van Sant July 2, 2012 Email to Hope); see also SPApp.12136 (Van Sant May 14, 2021 

Dep. Tr. at 203:5-22) (AmerisourceBergen concluded the WVAG Lawsuit was not covered because it 

involved “a state” seeking money for economic costs, and “not a person” who suffered any bodily injury). 



 

3 

AmerisourceBergen commenced this case, numerous courts have issued rulings that the WVAG 

Lawsuit was not covered under liability policies as a matter of law.  These rulings included a 2015 

decision—issued two years before AmerisourceBergen brought this coverage action—which 

found as a matter of law that the WVAG Lawsuit was not covered under another St. Paul liability 

policy with the same insuring agreement that appears in the St. Paul Policy issued to 

AmerisourceBergen that is the subject of AmerisourceBergen’s complaint here.6  Earlier this year, 

the Delaware Supreme Court ruled, in January 2022, that governmental-entity opioids lawsuits are 

not covered under liability policies like the one at issue here as a matter of Pennsylvania law—the 

same law that applies to the St. Paul Policy.7  The Ohio Supreme Court agreed in September 2022 

that governmental-entity opioid lawsuits are not covered under liability policies.8  A series of other 

courts have reached the same conclusion as a matter of law.9   

B. In 2017, AmerisourceBergen Commences This Insurance Coverage Action, 

And Limits The Scope To 16 Policies And West Virginia Claims 

In January 2017, AmerisourceBergen settled the WVAG Lawsuit for $16 million.10  Two 

months later, AmerisourceBergen filed this insurance coverage action, naming as defendants St. 

Paul and four other insurance companies:  ACE American Insurance Company, ACE Property and 

Casualty Insurance Company (together, “ACE”), American Guarantee & Liability Insurance 

 
6 See Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am. v. Anda, Inc., 90 F. Supp. 3d 1308, 1313-15 (S.D. Fla. 2015). 
7 See ACE Am. Ins. Co. v. Rite Aid Corp., 270 A.3d 239, 241 (Del. 2022). 
8 See Acuity v. Masters Pharm., Inc., --- N.E.3d ---, No. 2020-1134, 2022 WL 4086449, at *10-11 (Ohio 

Sept. 7, 2022). 
9 See, e.g., Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Richie Enterp. LLC, No. 1:12-CV-00186-JHM-HBB, 2014 WL 3513211 

at *6 (W.D. Ky. July 16, 2014) (no coverage for WVAG Lawsuit); see also, e.g., Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. 

AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., No. CV2012103912, 2015 WL 13808271 at *1 (Ohio C.P., Butler Cty. 

Aug. 31, 2015) (same); Westfield Ins. Co. v. Masters Pharm., Inc., No. A 1400064, 2015 WL 10478081 at 

*3 (Ohio C.P., Hamilton Cty. Dec. 17, 2015) (same); Motorists Mut. Ins. Co. v. Quest Pharm., Inc., No. 

5:19-cv-00187-TBR, 2021 WL 1794754 at *6-7 (W.D. Ky. May 5, 2021) (no coverage for opioid suits 

outside of West Virginia); Westfield Nat’l Ins. Co. v. Quest Pharm., Inc., No. 5:19-cv-00083-TBR, 2021 

WL 1821702, at *8 (W.D. Ky. May 6, 2021) (same). 
10 See SPApp.00199, SPApp.00201 (ABDC July 18, 2018 Am. Compl. ¶¶ 26, 34).   
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Company, and Endurance American Insurance Company (collectively, the “Insurers”).11   By the 

operative complaint, filed July 2018, AmerisourceBergen seeks a determination of coverage for 

opioid lawsuits filed against AmerisourceBergen in West Virginia under one liability policy 

issued by St. Paul and 15 other policies issued by the four other Insurers for certain periods from 

2006 to 2013.12  All 16 policies are governed by Pennsylvania law.13   

As this Court recognized in its November 15, 2021 Opinion, the scope of 

AmerisourceBergen’s complaint in this case is limited to 16 insurance policies and underlying 

opioid-related lawsuits filed against AmerisourceBergen in West Virginia: 

Our concern is that ABDC’s West Virginia complaint is limited in 

scope and seeks a declaratory judgment concerning only sixteen 

insurance policies issued by five insurance companies.  As ABDC’s 

complaint is cast, it asks the circuit court for a judgment regarding 

whether those sixteen policies provide coverage for the growing 

number of West Virginia-based opioid lawsuits.14   

Since this Court reversed the First Injunction on November 15, 2021, AmerisourceBergen 

has not sought leave to amend its complaint to expand the scope of this coverage litigation to 

include any additional insurance policies or any other claims outside of West Virginia.  Indeed, 

from the outset of this case, AmerisourceBergen has deliberately limited the scope of litigation to 

these 16 policies and underlying opioid lawsuits filed in West Virginia.  During a hearing in 2017, 

AmerisourceBergen affirmed, as a condition to receiving an extension of time to amend its original 

complaint, that AmerisourceBergen would not be expanding the limited scope of this coverage 

action to include any other insurance policies or claims.  Specifically, AmerisourceBergen told the 

 
11 See SPApp.00135-51 (ABDC Mar. 17, 2017 Compl.). 
12 See SPApp.00194-95, SPApp.00202-16, SPApp.00218, SPApp.00240 (ABDC July 18, 2018 Am. 

Compl. ¶¶ 1, 40-89, 93 & Ex. A) (“This is an insurance coverage action . . . for all defense costs and any 

liability that ABDC and Bellco incur in connection with prescription opioid lawsuits filed in this State.”). 
13 See, e.g., SPApp.02674 (Defs. Mar. 11, 2022 Opp’n to ABDC Mot. for TRO). 
14 See St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., 868 S.E.2d 724, 737 (W. Va. 

2021). 
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Circuit Court that AmerisourceBergen  has “no intent of adding cases from other jurisdictions” 

and will “[n]ot [be] going outside of West Virginia in this case” because “[t]his is really limited to 

the coverage and duty to defend the West Virginia actions under these -- for these four carriers 

under these policies.”15  In entering the First Injunction, the Circuit Court gave 

AmerisourceBergen another opportunity to amend its complaint “to ensure that all issues, parties, 

and insurance policies the parties believe are necessary to protect their legitimate interests are 

included in this action,” but AmerisourceBergen again declined to expand its complaint.16   

Under a February 22, 2018 Order, the parties are presently litigating coverage for the 

WVAG Lawsuit in the first phase of this litigation, and the second phase will address coverage for 

other underlying lawsuits filed against AmerisourceBergen in West Virginia:  “Litigation 

concerning ABDC’s claim for coverage with respect to the WVAG Lawsuit will move forward, 

and . . . [l]itigation of ABDC’s claim for coverage with respect to the pending West Virginia 

Coverage Actions is stayed.”17  It is undisputed that opioid lawsuits filed against 

AmerisourceBergen outside of West Virginia are beyond the scope of this coverage action. 

AmerisourceBergen has never provided an explanation for restricting the scope of this case 

to a small subset of insurance policies and excluding coverage for claims brought against it in the 

other 49 states, but its choice is final and dispositive of the issues presented.  Insurance coverage 

for opioid suits filed outside of West Virginia is not and has never been the subject of this West-

Virginia-specific litigation.  Indeed, this litigation could only properly be about coverage for 

 
15 See SPApp.00158-60 (Cir. Ct. Sept. 28, 2017 Hr’g Tr. at 5:19-20, 6:15-16, 7:20-22) (emphasis added); 

SPApp.00180 (Cir. Ct. Oct. 16, 2017 Or. at 1) (“[P]laintiff affirmed that . . . it is seeking and will only seek 

coverage for . . . opioid lawsuits filed against ABDC in West Virginia.”). 
16 See, e.g., SPApp.02235 (St. Paul Jan. 20, 2021 Ltr. to Cir. Ct. at 1) (“Plaintiffs confirmed that they do 

not intend to seek leave to amend their complaint to add other insurers, insurance policies, or additional 

underlying claims for decision by the Court in this proceeding.”). 
17 See SPApp.00188 (Cir. Ct. Feb. 22, 2018 Or. at 1). 
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underlying lawsuits filed in West Virginia, because those suits are the only connection that this 

case has to West Virginia—none of the parties are located in West Virginia, and none of the 16 

policies were issued in West Virginia or to a West Virginia company. 

C. AmerisourceBergen Is Sued By Governments Outside Of West Virginia, And 

Demands Insurance Coverage For A Multi-Billion-Dollar Settlement Of Non-

West Virginia Claims 

Notwithstanding the limited scope of this West-Virginia-specific coverage litigation, 

AmerisourceBergen and its affiliates also have been sued by thousands of other state and local 

governments outside of West Virginia, each of which has asserted claims related to 

AmerisourceBergen’s alleged improper distribution of opioids within those jurisdictions.  

AmerisourceBergen has demanded insurance coverage for those thousands of other claims from 

St. Paul and other insurance companies, including insurers that are not parties to this case.18 

In 2020, a global settlement of non-West Virginia opioid claims was announced, in which 

AmerisourceBergen agreed to pay more than $6 billion to governments outside of West Virginia 

(the “Global Settlement”).19  The Global Settlement, which excludes claims filed against 

AmerisourceBergen in West Virginia, became effective in April 2022.20  AmerisourceBergen 

also reached other settlements with Native American Tribes, under which AmerisourceBergen and 

two other distributors agreed to pay more than $500 million.21  AmerisourceBergen has requested 

 
18 See, e.g., SPApp.02858-3002 (ABDC Aug. 1 & Oct. 16, 2019 Ltrs.).   
19 See, e.g., Kevin Stawicki, McKesson, 2 Other Distributors Ink $21B Opioid Settlement, LAW360, Nov. 

3, 2020; Joel Achenbach, et al., Johnson & Johnson, Three Other Companies Close in on $26 Billion Deal 

on Opioid Litigation, WASHINGTON POST, Nov. 5, 2020; Distributors Announce Proposed Opioid 

Settlement Agreement, AMERISOURCEBERGEN CORP., July 21, 2021; Distributors Approve Opioid 

Settlement Agreement, AMERISOURCEBERGEN CORP., Feb. 25, 2022; Thousands of U.S. Communities To 

Receive Opioid Recovery Funds from $26 Billion Global Settlements As Soon As May 2022, NATIONAL 

PRESCRIPTION OPIATE MDL PLAINTIFFS’ EXECUTIVE CMTE., Feb. 25, 2022. 
20 See Press Release: Distributors Approve Opioid Settlement Agreement, AMERISOURCEBERGEN CORP., 

Feb. 25, 2022; Press Release: Thousands of U.S. Communities To Receive Opioid Recovery Funds from 

$26 Billion Global Settlements As Soon As May 2022, NATIONAL PRESCRIPTION OPIATE MDL PLAINTIFFS’ 

EXECUTIVE CMTE., Feb. 25, 2022. 
21 See Andrew Westney, Tribes Reach $590M Opioids Deal With J&J, Distributors, LAW360, Feb. 1, 2022. 
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coverage for the Global Settlement and Native American Tribes’ settlement from the Insurers and 

other non-party insurance companies.22  Coverage for the Global Settlement and Native American 

Tribes’ settlement is not at issue in this case.   

Since the scope of this case is limited to coverage for claims filed in West Virginia, shortly 

after the Global Settlement of non-West Virginia claims was announced, St. Paul and four 

affiliated insurers that are not parties to this case commenced a separate coverage litigation in 

California in November 2020 (the “California Action”), which aimed to address coverage 

questions related to the thousands of non-West Virginia claims.23  The five plaintiff-insurers in the 

California Action (only one of which, St. Paul, is a Defendant here) sought coverage 

determinations regarding non-West Virginia claims under 18 insurance policies issued for certain 

periods from 1995 to 2007, including multiple policies that were issued to a California company, 

Bergen Brunswig Corporation.24  Bergen Brunswig is a predecessor of AmerisourceBergen and 

merged with Amerisource Health Corporation, as part of a merger that formed AmerisourceBergen 

Corporation in 2001.25  None of the policies issued to Bergen Brunswig are named in 

AmerisourceBergen’s complaint in this case.  In total, 17 of the 18 policies issued by the plaintiff-

insurers in the California Action are not at issue here.26 

In an effort to make it clear that the California Action would not address any coverage 

questions for underlying claims filed in West Virginia, the California Action complaint stated: 

In 2017, ABC settled an opioid-related lawsuit brought against it by 

the Attorney General of West Virginia.  Coverage for that settlement 

and cases brought by certain West Virginia governmental entities 

against ABC and its affiliates is the subject of litigation pending in 

 
22 See, e.g., SPApp.02858-3002 (ABDC Aug. 1 & Oct. 16, 2019 Ltrs.). 
23 See SPApp.11789-90 (Nov. 5, 2020 Cal. Action Compl. ¶¶ 1-5). 
24 See SPApp.11789, SPApp.11801, SPApp.11810 (Id. ¶¶ 2, 35 & Ex. A). 
25 See SPApp.11789 (Id. ¶ 2). 
26 Compare SPApp.11789, SPApp.11801, SPApp.11810 (Id. ¶¶ 2, 35 & Ex. A) with SPApp.00240 (ABDC 

July 18, 2018 Am. Compl. at Ex. A). 
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West Virginia, styled AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., et al. v. ACE 

American Insurance Co., et al., No. 17-C-36 (W.V. Cir. Ct., Boone 

Cty.), and is not intended to be the subject of this action.27 

Following the appeal of the First Injunction and to eliminate any uncertainty about the 

import of this statement in the California Action complaint, St. Paul advised the Boone County 

Circuit Court that “St. Paul will not litigate in the California Action coverage for underlying West 

Virginia settlements and cases that are the subject of this West Virginia coverage action.”28 

In late 2020 and early 2021, four non-party insurance companies filed cross-complaints 

against St. Paul and the other plaintiff-insurers in the California Action.29  Subsequently, after 

AmerisourceBergen filed motions to dismiss those other insurers’ cross-complaints, in which 

AmerisourceBergen said that their cross-claims could not properly be litigated in California and 

that “Delaware” was a “far more suitable” venue for litigation between them,30 those cross-

claiming insurers withdrew their claims in California and instead filed complaints against 

AmerisourceBergen, ACE, and St. Paul in Delaware.31  To be clear, and as discussed in greater 

detail below, neither St. Paul nor ACE initiated the Delaware litigation, and both were named as 

defendants just like AmerisourceBergen.  Accordingly, in light of AmerisourceBergen’s insistence 

that those other insurers’ cross-claims could not be litigated in California and those other insurers 

 
27 See SPApp.03183 (Nov. 5, 2020 Cal. Action Compl. ¶ 41 n.11). 
28 See SPApp.11211 (Defs. Apr. 20, 2022 Br. at 7). 
29 See SPApp.13085, SPApp.13091-92 (Cal. Action Dkt. at ROA 157 (12/14/2020 National Union Cross-

Compl.), ROA 233 (1/14/2021 Arrowood Cross-Compl.), ROA 254 (01/19/2021 Hartford Cross-Compl.)); 

see, e.g., SPApp.02210-33. 
30 See, e.g., SPApp.02491 (ABDC Mar. 8, 2021 Mot. to Dismiss at 15) (“West Virginia, Pennsylvania, or 

Delaware are far more suitable forums . . . .” than California). 
31 See, e.g., SPApp.13145 (Cal. Action Dkt. at ROA 1237 (July 28, 2022 Dismissal of Arrowood), ROA 

1247 (July 28, 2022 Dismissal of National Union)); SPApp.03317-44 (Arrowood Mar. 1, 2022 Am. Compl. 

(Del. Super. Ct.)); see also, e.g., SPApp.12548-50 (ABDC Mar. 21, 2022 Mot. to Dismiss National Union 

Compl. (Del. Super. Ct.)).  
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having filed in Delaware instead, St. Paul voluntarily dismissed its claims against those other 

insurers in the California Action.32 

The California Action is stayed, pursuant to a February 2021 order that was entered by the 

California Superior Court at AmerisourceBergen’s request.33  

D. In January 2021, The Boone County Circuit Court Issues The First Injunction, 

Which This Court Reverses As Overbroad And An Abuse Of Discretion 

On November 19, 2020, AmerisourceBergen moved the Circuit Court for an order 

enjoining St. Paul from prosecuting the California Action.34  St. Paul and ACE opposed.35  On 

January 7, 2021, the Circuit Court entered the First Injunction, which precluded St. Paul and the 

other parties “from instituting or prosecuting any collateral litigation or other proceeding against 

one another relating to insurance coverage for the prescription opioid lawsuits against ABC,

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