IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CASE NO. 22-575

SCA EFiled: Nov 28 2022 04:27PM EST Transaction ID 68446611

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant below / Petitioner,

ν.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION and BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION,

Plaintiffs below / Respondents.

From the Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia Civil Action No. CC-03-2017-C-36

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION AND BELLCO DRUG CORPORATION'S BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

INTRODUCTION		
STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
A	The West Virginia Attorney General Sues ABDC in Boone County and the Parties Settle	
В.	Other West Virginia Government Entities File Prescription Opioid Lawsuits Against ABDC	
C.	ABDC Initiates this Coverage Action	
D	St. Paul Initiates Duplicative Litigation in California	
E.	The Circuit Court Issues the January 6, 2021 Anti-Suit Injunction13	
F.	The California Trial Court Stays the California Coverage Action Pending Completion of the West Virginia Proceedings, and the Court of Appeal Affirms	
G	This Court Affirms the Need for the Anti-Suit Injunction But Remands for Clarification of Its Scope	
Н	St. Paul Colludes With Other Insurers to Undermine the West Virginia Coverage Action and Litigate Coverage Issues in Delaware	
I.	The Circuit Court Issues the June 10, 2022 Renewed Anti-Suit Injunction	
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT		
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION		
STANDARD OF REVIEW		
ARGUMENT		
I. A	Circuit Court Entering an Injunction is Guided by a Discretionary Standard24	
	The Circuit Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Entering The Renewed Injunction	
III. St	St. Paul's Arguments Lack All Merit	

А.	The Scope of the Renewed Injunction is Consistent with This Court's November 15, 2021 Opinion and Order	
В.	The Renewed Injunction Allows St. Paul to Respond to Third-Party Claims	
C.	The Renewed Injunction Advances Principles of Comity Between States 39	
CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Acord v. Colane Co., No. 04-C-151-0, 2009 W.V. Cir. LEXIS 58 (W.V. Cir. Ct Logan Cty. Aug. 27, 2010)
Arnold Agency v. W. Va. Lottery Comm'n, 206 W. Va. 583, 526 S.E.2d 814 (1999)
State ex rel. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. Hill, 214 W. Va. 760, 591 S.E.2d 318 (2003)
<i>Formulak v. Bank of Charles Town</i> , No. 15-0643, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 343 (May 20, 2016)
<i>In re Nat'l Prescription Opiate Litig.</i> , No. 1:17-md-2804, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165494 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 26, 2019)
St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Corp., 80 Cal. App. 5th 1, 295 Cal. Rptr. 3d 400 (2022)
St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., W.Va, 868 S.E.2d 724 (2021)
State by & Through McGraw v. Imperial Mktg., 196 W. Va. 346, 472 S.E.2d 792 (1996)
<i>State v. Baker</i> , 112 W. Va. 263, 164 S.E. 154 (1932)
<i>State v. Hobbs</i> , 168 W. Va. 13, 282 S.E.2d 258 (1981)
West v. Nat'l Mines Corp., 168 W. Va. 578, 285 S.E.2d 670 (1981)
<i>Yates v. Mun. Mortg. & Equity, LLC,</i> 744 F.3d 874 (4th Cir. 2014)

INTRODUCTION

The underlying coverage case asks the Boone County Circuit Court to determine whether general liability insurance policies—including policies written by Defendant-Petitioner St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company ("St. Paul")—should fund the defense and settlement of prescription opioid liability lawsuits alleging bodily injuries for which the State of West Virginia and other plaintiffs contend that they provided medical care and related services. These prescription opioid liability lawsuits, now flooding the nation's federal and state courts, have been recognized by the National Opioid MDL court as "the most complex and important group of cases ever filed."¹

This appeal, however, does not involve a question of insurance coverage. The narrow question presented is whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in fashioning an injunction that protects the court's jurisdiction by temporarily prohibiting the prosecution of subsequent actions regarding coverage for the prescription opioid liability lawsuits under the same standard-form insurance policies that are at issue in this trial-ready case. The injunction allows the circuit court to complete its work without the potential for conflicting rulings from sister courts that would delay and constrain the West Virginia proceedings.

In 2021, after the circuit court entered an anti-suit injunction (the "Injunction") based on St. Paul's bad-faith litigation tactics, this Court held that the circuit court correctly determined that an injunction was needed to prevent a threat to the court's jurisdiction and to protect compelling interests of West Virginia.² It remanded for clarification of the scope of the

¹ In re Nat'l Prescription Opiate Litig., No. 1:17-md-2804, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165494, at *54 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 26, 2019).

² St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., ____ W.Va. ____, 868 S.E.2d 724 (2021).

Injunction and a further articulation of the circuit court's reasoning for the particulars of the Injunction. On remand, the parties submitted thousands of pages of supplemental briefing and exhibits, after which the circuit court heard argument regarding the proper scope and duration of the Injunction. The circuit court then issued the Renewed Injunction in a detailed and well-reasoned opinion. St. Paul has appealed. This Court should affirm.

* * *

As this Court is now familiar, AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation ("ABDC") initiated this coverage action in March 2017 against St. Paul, ACE American Insurance Company, ACE Property and Casualty Insurance Company, American Guarantee & Liability Insurance Company, and Endurance American Insurance Company (the "Insurer Defendants").³ The events leading to the Injunction began in November 2020, when St. Paul filed a duplicative suit in California (the "California Coverage Action") against the same parties, relating to the same insurance policies, and raising the same issues that had been pending in West Virginia for nearly four years. St. Paul served the California Coverage Action complaint on the *same day* that the circuit court *issued a summary judgment ruling against St. Paul* on what St. Paul called the "threshold" issue of whether the underlying prescription opioid liability lawsuits seek damages for "bodily injury" as required to trigger coverage under the insurance policies' insuring agreements.

To prevent further procedural gamesmanship, and to protect the jurisdiction and compelling interests of West Virginia, the circuit court enjoined the parties to the West Virginia action from prosecuting duplicative litigation relating to the issues pending in the

³ ACE American Insurance Company and ACE Property and Casualty Insurance Company (together, "ACE"), along with St. Paul, have appealed the circuit court's June 10, 2022 Renewed Injunction Order.

circuit court while the case is pending. On appeal, this Court affirmed the circuit court's finding that St. Paul filed its collateral California suit for improper purposes—namely "forum shopping and the disruption of the orderly resolution of th[is] West Virginia suit"—and held that an anti-suit injunction is warranted to halt St. Paul's bad-faith litigation tactics. This Court recognized that "the courts of this State have a compelling interest in determining whether the policies at issue in ABDC's West Virginia suit provide coverage for the underlying claims brought by West Virginia entities, without competing rulings from a foreign court" and that the Injunction was "needed to prevent a threat to the court's jurisdiction and ability to resolve the West Virginia coverage suit, and to prevent a multiplicity of suits filed with the intent of causing delay, expense and inconsistent judgments."

This Court, however, returned the matter to the circuit court "for clarification of the order or such other proceedings as are necessary." In particular, this Court directed additional consideration of the following:

- "why the circuit court precluded the litigation of *any* issues between the parties, if those issues were unrelated to the interpretation of the sixteen insurance policies at issue in the West Virginia action"; and
- whether "the circuit court's order effectively precluded the parties from pursuing some agreed-upon resolution of the California action, or a resolution from the California court such as a stay or dismissal."

On remand, based on the parties' submission of thousands of pages of additional briefing and exhibits—including insurance policies at issue in both the West Virginia and California actions as well as detailed evidence regarding proceedings in other jurisdictions— the circuit court issued the Renewed Injunction after a lengthy hearing. The court first made findings of fact based on the expanded record, including the following:

- "[F]rom 1995 to 2018, St. Paul and ACE were the only insurers that issued primary layer insurance to ABC (from 2001 to 2018) or Bergen Brunswig Corporation (from 1995 to 2001)."
- "[D]uring that period the St. Paul and ACE policies' insurance agreements were *identical in all material respects*."
- "All of [the St. Paul and ACE] policies—not just the sixteen at issue in Phase 1—are directly at issue in Phase 2 of this case."

The circuit court then acknowledged this Court's concerns as to potential ambiguities in the initial wording of the Injunction and refashioned the Injunction accordingly. The circuit court "agree[d] that the Injunction should not broadly extend to '*any* issues' between the parties" and that "the Injunction should not extend to insurance policies that are unrelated to the insurance policies at issue in the West Virginia action." Accordingly, "to ensure the scope of the Injunction does not sweep more broadly than necessary to accomplish the purposes identified by the Supreme Court of Appeals," the circuit court clarified that the Renewed Injunction restricts only collateral litigation pertaining to:

- "insurance policies issued to ABDC or its predecessors and affiliates";
- "insurance policies issued by the Insurer Defendants in this case or their predecessors and affiliates";
- "insurance policies that are either expressly at issue in this case, that are implicitly at issue in this case by virtue of the temporal scope of the claims asserted in the cases that make up Phase 2 of this case, which include all of defendants' policies back to at least January 1, 1996, and/or that are written on forms that are substantially similar to the forms at issue in this case, or that follow form to such insurance policies"; and
- "insurance coverage for prescription opioid liability lawsuits of the same types that have been included in the National Opioid MDL or the West Virginia Opioid MLP."

The circuit court also addressed this Court's second question and held that "[t]he Injunction is modified to clarify that nothing in the Injunction will preclude any party from seeking a compromise resolution of any claims, whether through settlement or otherwise." Also, the Renewed Injunction is "temporary" and "shall remain in effect until the conclusion of Phase 1 of this dispute, at which time the Court will hear argument on whether any changed circumstances alter the equities involved or require further modification."

On appeal, St. Paul argues that the Renewed Injunction is "overbroad" because it encompasses St. Paul policies dating back to 1996. The Renewed Injunction is not overbroad. Based on uncontroverted facts, the circuit court found that the St. Paul policies dating back to 1996 are at issue in this action—specifically, in Phase 2, which will go forward (according to the parties' Bifurcation and Stay agreement) after the parties litigate the bellwether issues in Phase 1. The circuit court also found that the St. Paul policies dating back to 1996 are materially identical to the St. Paul Policy at issue in Phase 1.⁴

Based on these findings, the circuit court held that "the Injunction must extend beyond coverage for a subset of prescription opioid liability lawsuits or just the sixteen insurance policies at issue in Phase 1 of this suit" because "[a]ny interpretation of ABDC's policies or primary policy language by the California court—or any other court Insurer Defendants might seek to file a collateral coverage action in—presents the threat of inconsistent rulings identified by this Court and acknowledged by the Supreme Court of Appeals and the California Superior Court" which is "especially so as all of the Insurer Defendants' policies—not just the sixteen

⁴ The California Court of Appeal reached this same conclusion when it affirmed a stay of St. Paul's duplicative California action. After St. Paul refused to comply with the Injunction, ABDC was forced to file a motion to stay the California action, which the California trial court granted and the California Court of Appeal affirmed because "[t]he coverage actions here and in West Virginia arise from the same underlying circumstances as the MDL" and "the West Virginia case can serve to educate the parties (whether or not the same) and the trial court about the issues and how to streamline the litigation here." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Corp.*, 80 Cal. App. 5th 1, 17, 295 Cal. Rptr. 3d 400, 412-13 (2022).

at issue in Phase 1-are directly at issue in Phase 2 of this case."

The Renewed Injunction is narrowly tailored and sweeps only so far as needed to prevent the disruption of the orderly resolution of this West Virginia suit and ensure that the courts of this State can determine whether the policies at issue in ABDC's West Virginia suit provide coverage for the underlying claims brought by West Virginia entities, without competing rulings from a foreign court. Because St. Paul lacks grounds to question the circuit court's exercise of its discretion in issuing the Renewed Injunction, this Court should affirm.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The West Virginia Attorney General Sues ABDC in Boone County and the Parties Settle

On June 26, 2012, the West Virginia Attorney General filed suit in the Circuit Court of Boone County against ABDC, alleging that ABDC negligently distributed prescription opioid medications, causing bodily injury and death to West Virginia residents and creating a public nuisance. *State of West Virginia ex rel. Darrell v. McGraw, Jr., Attorney General. v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation, et al.*, Civil Action No. 12-C-141 (Boone Cnty. Cir. Ct., W. Va.) ("WVAG Lawsuit"); SPApp.12989 ¶ 2. The West Virginia Attorney General sought damages against ABDC to reimburse it for costs that the State allegedly paid to address those injuries and deaths, including the costs of providing medical care, treatment, and services to West Virginians. *Id.* ¶ $3.^5$ On December 1, 2016, ABDC and the West Virginia Attorney General reached an agreement in principle on the material terms of a settlement to resolve the WVAG Lawsuit. SPApp.00289 ¶ 8.

⁵ The WVAG Lawsuit was "the first of thousands of similar lawsuits filed around the country." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. AmerisourceBergen Corp.*, 80 Cal. App. 5th 1, 7, 295 Cal. Rptr. 3d 400, 404 (2022).

B. Other West Virginia Government Entities File Prescription Opioid Lawsuits Against ABDC

After the settlement of the WVAG Lawsuit, West Virginia political subdivisions and other plaintiffs began filing prescription opioid liability lawsuits against ABDC similar to the WVAG Lawsuit. SPApp.01913 ¶ 21; SPApp.12990 ¶ 8. These were followed by thousands of similar lawsuits against ABDC in West Virginia and across the country by other government entities, third-party payors, individual and putative class action plaintiffs, and Native American Tribes. SPApp.12991 ¶ 10.

The prescription opioid liability lawsuits filed against ABDC in West Virginia state courts that were not removed to federal court have been consolidated in the West Virginia MLP for pretrial proceedings. SPApp.12992 ¶ 13; SPApp.12981 n.1. The prescription opioid liability lawsuits filed in or removed to federal court have been consolidated in the National Opioid MDL. *In re National Prescription Opioid Litig.*, No. 1:17-md-2804 (N.D. Ohio); SPApp.12991 ¶ 10; SPApp.12981 n.1. According to the National Opioid MDL court, the underlying claims against distributors, including ABDC, involve alleged conduct beginning on or before January 1, 1996. SPApp.13015 ¶ 118 (citing ECF No. 693, June 30, 2018 Discovery Ruling No. 2 Regarding Scope filed in *In re National Prescription Opiate Litigation*, No. 1:17-md-2804 (N.D. Ohio); ECF No. 1247, March 31, 2021 Order Denying Summary Judgment on Statute of Limitations Grounds filed in *City of Huntington v. AmerisourceBergen, et al.*, No. 3:17-01362 (S.D. W. Va.)).

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